Board Meeting Minutes April 21st, 2020

Present were:

Sarah Godlewski, Board Chair
Josh Kaul, Commissioner
Doug LaFollette, Commissioner
Tom German, Executive Secretary
Richard Sneider, Chief Investment Officer
Mike Krueger, IT Manager
Thuy Nguyen, Office Manager
Julie Benkoske

State Treasurer
Attorney General
Secretary of State
Board of Commissioners of Public Lands

State Treasurer's Office

Absent Board members:

None

ITEM 1. CALL TO ORDER

Board Chair Godlewski called the meeting to order at 2:02 p.m.

ITEM 2. APPROVE MINUTES – April 7th, 2020.

MOTION: Commissioner Lafollette moved to approve the minutes; Board Chair Godlewski seconded the motion.

DISCUSSION: None

VOTE: The motion passed 3-0.

ITEM 3. APPROVE LOANS

MOTION: Commissioner Kaul moved to approve the loans; Board Chair Godlewski seconded the motion.

DISCUSSION: Mr. Sneider commented that the loans have been approved for public purpose by the Attorney General's office. There are three loans for wastewater treatment projects. BCPL has a joint program with the DNR where loans of less than \$2 million for wastewater treatment plants can receive a DNR subsidy on the interest rate. All three of these wastewater treatment loans qualify for this subsidy. These customers will be applying to the DNR for this subsidy. These loans will likely stay in the portfolio through maturity because these communities will be receiving a very low net interest rate and will likely not refinance. The other loans for consideration at this meeting are for trucks and other normal purchases.

Commissioner LaFollette asked for specification on which loans are the subsidized loans.

Me. Sneider replied, they are loans 5,6 and 7. Roxbury Sanitary District has two loans because each loan represents a separate phase of the project and wanted one of loans to have a shorter amortization period to pay it off a little quicker. Commissioner LaFollette confirmed that loan number 7 is also for a wastewater project, WWTP.

VOTE: The motion passed 3-0.

MOTION - The Board of Commissioners of Public Lands (BCPL) unanimously approved \$4,124,374.00 in State Trust Fund Loans to support 9 community projects in Wisconsin.

- 1. Village of Dresser / Polk County / Finance water tower project / \$650,000.00
- 2. Village of Fredonia / Ozaukee County / Finance WWTP project / \$1,549,064.00
- 3. Town of Gilman / Pierce County / Finance purchase of tractor / \$33,523.00
- 4. Town of Mercer / Iron County / Finance purchase of plow truck / \$161,787.00
- 5. City of Onalaska / La Crosse County / Finance capital budget expenditures / \$542,000.00
- 6. Sanitary District of Roxbury Sanitary District #1 / Dane County / Finance wastewater projects / \$700,000.00
- 7. Sanitary District of Roxbury Sanitary District #1 / Dane County / Finance wastewater lateral projects / \$300,000,00
- 8. Town of Summit / Douglas County / Finance purchase of dump truck / \$80,000.00
- 9. Town of Whitestown / Vernon County / Finance purchase of truck and equipment / \$108,000.00

ITEM 4. CONSIDERATION AND POTENTIAL VOTE ON CHANGES TO BCPL INVESTMENT POLICY

Board Chair Godlewski commented that the new investment policy was presented at the last board meeting and is hoping that commissioners have had time to review it and recommends that the investment policy is approved.

Commissioner Kaul commented that he has questions but can ask those questions during the discussion.

Board Chair Godlewski moved to approve the new investment policy.

Commissioner Kaul requested that discussion take place before the official motion in the event there are additional changes.

DISCUSSION: Commissioner Kaul thanked BCPL on the work that was done to write the new policy. He then asked about the ways in which the changes improve the investment plan and if there are trade-offs, for example what Commissioner LaFollette brought up last meeting.

Mr. Sneider commented that the major change is to modernize the policy from 2016. BCPL has filled the smoothing fund and a lot of the wording needed to be updated as well as other sections of the policy. BCPL is increasing the diversification of the assets to areas that will provide a higher risk adjusted rate of return for the long term while reducing the overall portfolio risk. It allows for further diversification of asset allocation due to the filling of our smoothing fund, and the smoothing fund should improve our distributions to our beneficiaries.

Executive Secretary German commented about the trade-off. The trade-off is changing the asset allocation does provide for the chance for more diversification and for better protection in the market. At the same time, the demand it puts on the staff is higher. This new policy requires BCPL to be more creative in asset allocation and can be more challenging and more expensive. Executive Secretary German sees this as the biggest trade-off.

Commissioner Kaul asked how this will change the work of the investment committee.

Executive Secretary German replied that the investment committee is already functioning along these lines and has been doing so informally. This new policy formalizes how the investment committee is to function. He added that since Board Chair Godlewski has joined BCPL she has been active in participating in discussions and strategy sessions. Executive Secretary German stated that this new policy formalizes the approach of the committee.

Board Chair Godlewski commented about the governance section of the new policy. She believes it is an advantage to the commissioners to have a commissioner sit on the investment committee, if the board so chooses, and now this is formally captured in the new policy. It is beneficial to have a commissioner serve in that role.

Commissioner Kaul asked about sentences in the revised document that address legal issues, for example trust laws

applying to BCPL. Are these statements typically part of investment policies? Any thoughts on the inclusion of this language in the revised investment policy?

Executive Secretary German comments that this language is not necessarily common. He explained that the reason why this language is not necessarily common is that in most other endowments you have much more robust language in the charter documents. In BCPL's current situation, the Constitution is brief on how things are structured, in fact, the Constitution does not use the word "trust" anywhere. More comprehensive language can be found in some of the policies of some Western states' land commissions because they rely on 100 year old constitutional language as well. Executive Secretary German believes it is a good idea to have this language because it gives everyone a much better grasp of the intention and role of BCPL. Executive Secretary German further explained that the legislative council study committee put together their own compilation of laws that applied. BCPL ended up tracking the legislative council's compilation.

MOTION: Commissioner Kaul moved to ratify the proposed resolution; Board Chair Godlewski seconded.

FORMAL DISCUSSION: None

VOTE: The resolution is approved 3-0.

ITEM 5. NEW BUSINESS - NONE

ITEM 6. CHIEF INVESTMENT OFFICER'S REPORT

Mr. Sneider commented that BCPL is continuing to make prudent investments in the public sphere in both equities and bond ETFs. That strategy has proven effective for BCPL, while other endowments and other public funds have seen huge decreases over the past few months, the total net decline in BCPL managed funds is less than 1% which it is proud of.

ITEM 7. EXECUTIVE SECRETARY'S REPORT

Executive Secretary German shared that Dan Wisniewski, former Executive Secretary from 1999-2004 passed away last week. BCPL put a condolence message on our homepage.

Executive Secretary German commented that the pandemic may create some different demand for the Trust Fund Loan Program. The financial market has become much more volatile, so the reliability of the Trust Fund Loan Program becomes much more important to borrowers during times like this. Some of the Governor's emergency declarations may also have some unexpected effects for BCPL. People can now delay payment of their last property tax installment that is normally due in July until September. BCPL has no idea how many people will take advantage of this extension and although there always are some uncollected property taxes in August, counties are required to pay the full amount of those uncollected property taxes to the other taxing entities, like school districts, cities, vocational and technical schools. After that payment from the counties is made, the counties attempt to collect the unpaid property taxes. However, because of the larger expected amounts of unpaid taxes this year, counties may need to borrow money in order to settle-up with the other taxing authorities at that time. The counties may look to the Trust Fund Loan Program or may consider issuing other public debt instruments. Because there may be an increased need for loans, the Board Chair Godlewski and Executive Secretary German took part in a WI Counties' Association discussion and the Counties' Association will be running a story on BCPL in their upcoming May newsletter.

Executive Secretary German commented next about Governor's declaration prohibiting cutting off utilities for people who have not paid their utility bills. In response to this, municipal utilities asked the legislature for emergency legislation allowing municipal utilities to borrow from BCPL. Unfortunately, these utilities did not speak with anyone at BCPL before they spoke with the legislature. In response, the emergency legislation contained a non-statutory clause that authorizes BCPL to lend to "municipal utilities" on conditions the parties agree on. On the face this sounds

innocuous, unfortunately, 'municipal utility' is not something that is defined in chapter 24, and so it creates some unusual tension. In situations where 'municipal utility' is merely a division of a municipality, it being one in the same entity and there is no legal distinction, there is no problem in lending under chapter 24. The non-statutory legislation gives BCPL the opportunity to vary the terms of what is contained in chapter 24. When a municipality owns or operates the 'municipal utility' as a separate legal entity, there may be some problems. These municipal utilities are looking at this legislation for specific reasons, first, the municipality is not interested in borrowing money on a general obligation basis. Second, the municipal utility may already have some significant debt on its books that is already secured. Third, its revenues are falling, otherwise it would not need this emergency funding. And, fourth, BCPL cannot guarantee with any certainty that the loan would fall under chapter 24 allowing BCPL to intercept shared revenue, which makes the loan a riskier loan. Given these circumstances BCPL may choose not to lend to municipal utilities unless BCPL finds some additional assurances.

Commissioner LaFollette repeated his suggestion from a previous conversation, asking that BCPL tell the utility to go to its municipality and work it out.

Executive Secretary German responded that he agrees with Commissioner LaFollette as long as the municipality borrows from BCPL, it may be worked out. But in a situation where the municipal utility is a separate entity and it is trying to vary the terms of the statute, things can become more precarious. BCPL will update the board as things develops.

Executive Secretary German closed sharing that the Forest Service has issued a contract with the appraiser to move forward on the land exchange contract.

ITEM 8. BOARD CHAIR'S REPORT

Board Chair Godlewski commented that the local government in Wisconsin has been put in a unique situation as it has seen a decrease and delay in revenue. How does the State finance its needs given that property taxes will be paid later and there are increases in expenditures to address COVID-19? Unfortunately, the State, in the legislation that was passed last week, did not include any relief for local government. The federal government that was working on the 3.25 CARES Act that just passed also did not include support for local government. Wisconsin is uniquely positioned with the State Trust Fund Loan Program to step in and help, both for the community and schools. BCPL will continue to keep you posted as it has conversations with both the state counties' association and the treasurers' association.

ITEM 9. FUTURE AGENDA ITEMS

No new future agenda items.

ITEM 10. ADJOURN

Commissioner LaFollette moved to adjourn; Commissioner Board Chair Godlewski the motion. The motion passed 3-0; the meeting adjourned at 2:26 p.m.

Thomas P. German, Executive Secretary

Link to audio recording: https://bcpl.wisconsin.gov/Shared%20Documents/Board%20Meeting%20Docs/2020/2020-04-21 BoardMtgRecording.mp3